**RECEIVED**

**Apr 29 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANTONIO VASHON BARNES, JR.

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-001390

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

LARA M. CAUDY  
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err by denying Appellant immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act, when Appellant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that he was entitled to immunity pursuant to the Act?
2. Did the trial court err by failing to correctly instruct the jury on the defense of habitation as requested by Appellant when there was evidence to support the charge, particularly where the instruction given incorrectly told the jury the defense only applied if Appellant or a member of his household was attacked in Appellant's home and the life or safety of Appellant or a member of his household was jeopardized, which is an incorrect statement of law?
3. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by admitting evidence of Appellant's marijuana possession and prior marijuana distribution as well as evidence of Appellant's possession of unrelated firearms and ammunition since the evidence was not relevant pursuant to Rule 402, SCRE, any probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE, and the evidence was improper bad character evidence merely used to establish propensity in violation of Rule 404(b), SCRE?
4. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by admitting lyrics from a song Appellant rapped and posted on YouTube when the state failed to disclose the evidence to the defense in violation of Rule 5, SCRCrimP, and where the rap lyrics should have been excluded because the evidence was not relevant pursuant to Rule 402, SCRE, any probative value of the evidence was outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE, and the evidence constituted bad character evidence in violation of Rule 404(b), SCRE?
5. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by refusing to admit Defendant's Exhibit No. 108, Appellant's prior consistent statement, pursuant to Rule 801(d)(1)(B), SCRE, to rebut the state's argument that Appellant had fabricated his account of events, and to counter the state's suggestion Appellant manufactured remorse on the stand, particularly where the exclusion violated Appellant's constitutional right to present a complete defense?
6. Did the trial court err by refusing to grant a new trial based on the cumulative effect of the trial errors?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

A Richland County grand jury indicted Appellant on April 13, 2021 for two counts of murder, for the killings of Antonio Dash and Eric Griffin, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 1260-1263. A pretrial hearing on Appellant's motion for immunity pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act was held on March 30-31, 2022 before the Honorable DeAndrea Benjamin. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors Dale Scott, Paul Walton, and Nick Fowler represented the state. Laura Young, Luke Shealy, Brian Shealy, and Caroline Latimer represented Appellant. R. 1. By order filed June 14, 2022, Judge Benjamin denied Appellant's motion for immunity. R. 469-483.

Appellant's case was called for trial on December 5, 2022 before the Honorable Clifton Newman, and a jury. R. 484. Assistant Solicitors Dale Scott, Paul Walton, and Nick Fowler represented the state. Laura Young, Luke Shealy, Brian Shealy, and Carolina Latimer represented Appellant. R. 484. On December 8, 2022, the jury acquitted Appellant of one count of murder related to the killing of Antonio Dash, but found him guilty of the second count of murder for the death of Eric Griffin as well as the weapons offense. R. 1215, l. 18 – 1216, l. 10.

On December 13, 2022, Judge Newman sentenced Appellant to thirty-five years for murder and five years concurrent for the weapons offense. R. 1220, ll. 15-17. On December 22, 2022, Appellant filed a motion for a new trial. R. 1248-1258. By order filed September 7, 2023, Judge Newman denied Appellant's motion for a new trial. R. 1259.

This appeal follows.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

In February 2019, Appellant lived in Apartment 14G at the Willow Run Apartments with Samuel Thomas and Antonio Dash, one of the decedents. It was a two bedroom apartment located in a "dangerous neighborhood" in Columbia. R. 908, ll. 12-15. Appellant and Thomas, who were listed on the lease, allowed Dash to live with them because he had nowhere else to stay. The three,

who had been good friends for more than a decade, had been living together for at least a year. Thomas used the front bedroom, which was the first door on the right off the hallway. Appellant slept in the back bedroom, which was the second door on the right off the hallway. Dash, who did not have his own bedroom, slept on an air mattress in a large walk in closet at the very end of the hallway. Dash kept his belongings in this closet as well. R. 659, l. 20 – 660, l. 25. The apartment also had a bathroom, a kitchen, and a living room. The living room had little to no furniture. There was a table with a TV on top, “two church foldup chairs” and a second table with a “missing leg” in the corner that people would sit on. R. 916, ll. 14-18.

Thomas was the only roommate with a car. He routinely gave his roommates and other friends a ride to work or wherever else they needed to be. Thomas drove Dash to Wendy’s where he worked every morning. Appellant quit his job a week before the shooting and had not gained new employment. However, he regularly worked and was working at AutoZone at the time of trial. Appellant also sold marijuana. Though, he was not “a big drug dealer” and did not make a lot of money selling weed. He only sold marijuana to support his own smoking habit. R. 975, l. 9 – 976, l. 9; R. 1048, ll. 12-23.

Appellant, Dash, and Thomas all routinely carried a firearm because they lived in a high crime neighborhood. About two weeks before the shooting in this case, Thomas and Dash were robbed at gunpoint at The Corner Store, a convenience store located just down the road from their apartment. Both Thomas and Dash had a gun stolen from them during this robbery. Dash was able to obtain another gun from his brother after the robbery. However, Thomas had not acquired another gun. R. 668, l. 20 – 670, l. 17; R. 905, l. 21 – 908, l. 17.

Eric Griffin, the other decedent, had been Appellant’s friend for seven years. R. 891, l. 20 – 892, l. 6. Griffin had recently been released from jail. Appellant had helped Griffin post bond. After Griffin was released from jail, he “started coming back over” to Appellant’s apartment. R. 898, l. 23 – 899, l. 16.

On February 5, 2019, two days before the shooting, Griffin visited Appellant's apartment. Samuel Thomas and a woman named Kattera Harper were also at the apartment. The group was "chilling" and playing videogames. Antonio Dash was at work and was not present. For whatever reason, Thomas had the gun Dash had recently obtained from his brother. Initially, Thomas had the gun on his person. However, as the group was hanging out in the living room, Thomas placed the gun on the table in the corner. At some point, Appellant's brother called and asked for a ride to work. Thomas agreed to take Appellant's brother to work and the group dispersed. Griffin and Kattera left the apartment. Appellant also left and went to a friend's apartment nearby. R. 671, l. 1 – 673, l. 13; R. 899, l. 17 – 904, l. 20.

A few minutes after Appellant left, Thomas called Appellant and said Dash's gun, which he had placed on the table in the living room, was missing. Thomas "said the only thing he could think of" was that Griffin had taken the gun. Appellant immediately called Griffin and asked Griffin if he had taken the gun. Griffin denied taking the gun and Appellant believed him since Griffin was his friend. R. 904, l. 23 – 905, l. 12.

The following morning, February 6, 2019, Appellant woke up to the sounds of arguing. He walked into the living room and discovered Dash and Griffin arguing about the missing gun. Thomas and Kattera were also present. The argument between Dash and Griffin was "heated." Dash was holding Appellant's gun, which he had borrowed the night before to go to the store. Because the men were being aggressive, Appellant "snatched" his gun out of Dash's hand and attempted to deescalate the argument. He tried to be a mediator between the two. Griffin again denied taking Dash's gun. Eventually, Griffin left the apartment. R. 908, l. 18 – 910, l. 19.

Later that night, Appellant stayed up late playing videogames with Dash. Appellant learned while hanging out with Dash that Dash planned to go to work the following morning as usual. Appellant also talked on Facetime with his girlfriend into the early morning hours. The call with

his girlfriend ended at 2:59 am. R. 865, ll. 1-6. Appellant then went to sleep. R. 912, l. 21 – 913, l. 9.

Appellant was awoken the following morning by a “loud boom.” He thought the noise was the front door of his apartment being “kicked in.” Appellant laid in bed for a minute or two and listened. He heard what sounded like “feet moving” and someone in the house “running.” He also heard furniture “turning over” and then a loud crash, which he suspected was his TV falling to the floor. Appellant listened for the voices of his roommates, Samuel Thomas and Antonio Dash. However, he did not hear any voices he recognized. Based on their daily routine, Appellant did not believe Thomas or Dash were home. Thomas usually drove Dash to work around that time every morning and Dash told Appellant the night before that he had to work that day. R. 913, l. 15 – 915, l. 18.

On edge because he lived in a dangerous neighborhood, Appellant was scared. He believed his apartment was being “home invaded.” He was afraid that if he remained in bed, the intruders would find and kill him. Appellant grabbed his gun, which he always kept on the box spring under his mattress while he slept.<sup>1</sup> R. 917, ll. 1-19. He ran out into the hallway. His heart was “racing.” Appellant quickly moved down the hallway hugging the wall as he did so. As soon as he reached the corner, Appellant began firing in the area where he heard the sounds. He started shooting while he was still moving forward. Once he made it around the corner, Appellant saw two men on the ground. They were on top of each other. At first, Appellant did not recognize the men. Then he realized the man on the bottom who was facing upward was Antonio Dash. The man on top of Dash was Eric Griffin. The men were so close together, it looked like they were kissing. R. 915, l. 19 – 921, l. 10.

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellant legally owned and carried this firearm. He had purchased it and a prior gun he owned from Academy Sports and Outdoors. R. 977, ll. 8-15.

Appellant began to panic. Dash was his best friend and like a brother to him. Appellant was also close with Griffin. After accessing the scene, Appellant suspected Dash and Griffin had been in a physical altercation causing the commotion he had heard prior to the shooting. R. 921, l. 11 – 922, l. 22. The physical evidence supported this conclusion. Dash suffered blunt force trauma to the right side of his head and his left eyebrow. R. 841, l. 16 – 843, l. 9. One of Griffin’s earrings had been ripped out of his ear lobe and was found on the floor next to his body. R. 731, l. 10 – 732, l. 10. Both Griffin and Dash had each other’s DNA under their fingernails. R. 1065, l. 6 – 1071, l. 24. Ultimately, they both suffered multiple gunshot wounds and were pronounced dead at the scene. R. 804, l. 13 – 820, l. 12.

After the shooting, Appellant walked to the front door and opened it. He saw Griffin’s mother and girlfriend walking up the stairs. Appellant held the door open for them. The women began screaming and crying at the sight of the bodies. R. 922, l. 4 – 923, l. 7. Appellant went to his bedroom, grabbed his phone, and called 911 at 8:55 a.m., within a minute or so of the shooting. Other people also began to approach the apartment to find out what happened. Shakila Smalls, who lived two apartment buildings over, walked into the apartment, saw the bodies, and “snatched” the gun out of Appellant’s hand.<sup>2</sup> Appellant then walked downstairs and gave his name and contact information to the police. R. 923, l. 8 – 925, l. 24.

Samuel Thomas testified that he “always” took Dash to work. R. 657, l. 22 – 658, l. 9. However, on the morning of February 7, 2019, Dash told Thomas that he had another ride. Because Dash did not need a ride, Thomas chose to go to the doctor. He left the apartment around 8:15 a.m. When he left, Dash was sitting in the living room. He had his work uniform on. Appellant was

---

<sup>2</sup> Law enforcement found the firearm in Smalls’s apartment while executing a search warrant later that day. R. 652, l. 3 – 653, l. 4; R. 743, l. 5 – 748, l. 7. There is no evidence in the record as to why Smalls took the gun from Appellant. The state presumably did not call Smalls as a witness during trial because she had significant and obvious credibility problems as shown by the evidence presented during the immunity hearing.

asleep. Based on their usual daily routine, Dash and Thomas would not have been home at the time of the shooting. R. 658, l. 10 – 659, l. 1; R. 661, l. 25 – 662, l. 16; R. 678, l. 13 – 680, l. 13. When Thomas returned to the apartment after visiting the doctor, he learned about the shooting. He spoke to investigators outside around 9:30 a.m. and told them that when he left one of his roommates was asleep and the other was about to leave for work. R. 680, l. 14 – 682, l. 21.

Griffin's mother, Wanda Griffin, and his girlfriend, Ieasha Washington, both testified that Griffin suddenly asked to stop by Appellant's apartment on their way to take Wanda to work that morning. Griffin did not say why he wanted to stop by. Washington, who was driving, parked the car directly in front of Appellant's apartment. Washington and Wanda both testified that no one else came or went from Appellant's apartment after Griffin entered. R. 573, ll. 14-17. After waiting for about five minutes, the women heard gunshots. Washington immediately called Griffin. This call was placed at 8:54 a.m. The women then ran up the stairs to Appellant's apartment. Wanda knocked on the door and Appellant walked outside. Appellant walked straight to Washington and exclaimed, "What are they doing here? Why [were they] fighting? Who let him in? How did he get here?" R. 521, l. 16 – 535, l. 24; R. 550, l. 10 – 551, l. 1; R. 562, l. 12 – 569, l. 10. Washington testified that Appellant was "spazzing." He was pacing back and forth and pulling his hair. He told Washington that he had been asleep. Numerous people then started approaching the apartment. Washington saw Appellant walk down the hallway to his bedroom and then back outside. The next time Washington saw Appellant he was downstairs talking to the police. R. 575, l. 6 – 577, l. 5.

Kevin Archie, who performed maintenance for the apartments, testified that Appellant told him while they were downstairs minutes after the shooting that he was "back there" asleep, that he thought "they were trying to rob him," that Dash and Griffin were "in there fighting," and that Appellant "came out the back" and "started blasting." R. 592, l. 21 – 595, l. 25.

Appellant gave numerous statements to law enforcement that day. He was always consistent in his account of what occurred. R. 635, l. 22 – 637, l. 7.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court erred by denying Appellant immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act, when Appellant proved by a preponderance of the evidence he was entitled to immunity pursuant to the Act.

### **Relevant Facts**

Appellant filed a motion pretrial seeking immunity from prosecution pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450 (otherwise known as the Protection of Persons and Property Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410 *et seq.*). A pretrial hearing was held on Appellant’s motion eight months before trial. Appellant presented ten witnesses during the hearing: Emmitt Gilliam, Kevin Archie, Samuel Thomas, Steven Harper, Christopher Watkins, Castro, Daren Monroe, Sara Goodman, Paul Greer, and Ralph Tressel. At the conclusion of the hearing, the court requested the parties submit proposed orders. Appellant filed a proposed order granting immunity on April 18, 2022. R. 439-454. The state likewise submitted a proposed order. R. 455-468. By order filed June 14, 2022, the trial court denied Appellant immunity from prosecution.<sup>3</sup> R. 469-483.

### **Standard of Review**

“A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which [the appellate court] reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review.” State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual

---

<sup>3</sup> The state’s proposed order and the trial court’s order denying immunity are nearly identical.

conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” State v. Jones, 416 S.C. 283, 289, 786 S.E.2d 132, 136 (2016).

## **Discussion**

The trial judge erred by denying Appellant immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act, when Appellant proved by a preponderance of the evidence he was entitled to immunity pursuant to the Act.

In 2006, the South Carolina General Assembly adopted the Protection of Persons and Property Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410, et seq. The General Assembly explained its intent was to “codify the common law Castle Doctrine which recognizes that a person’s home is his castle and to extend the doctrine to include an occupied vehicle and the person’s place of business.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(A). The Act expresses the General Assembly’s finding “that it is proper for law-abiding citizens to protect themselves, their families, and others from intruders and attackers without fear of prosecution or civil action for acting in defense of themselves and others.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(B). The General Assembly recognized “that persons residing in or visiting this State have a right to expect to remain unmolested and safe within their homes, businesses, and vehicles.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(D). Finally, the General Assembly explained “that no person or victim of crime should be required to surrender his personal safety to a criminal, nor should a person or victim be required to needlessly retreat in the face of intrusion or attack.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(E).

To effectuate its intent, the General Assembly created a statute providing for immunity from prosecution to “a person who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of this article or another applicable provision of law.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450(A). The phrase “another applicable provision of law” includes the common law of self-defense. State v. Glenn, 429 S.C. 108, 118 838 S.E.2d 491, 496 (2019). “Another applicable provision of law” would include the analogous common law defense of defense of habitation.

Section 16-11-440 sets forth the circumstances under which the Act allows the use of deadly force. Id. The statute states in relevant part:

(A) A person is presumed to have a reasonable fear of imminent peril of death or great bodily injury to himself or another person when using deadly force that is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily injury to another person if the person:

- (1) against whom the deadly force is used is in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering, or has unlawfully and forcibly entered a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle, or if he removes or is attempting to remove another person against his will from the dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle; and
- (2) who uses deadly force knows or has reason to believe that an unlawful and forcible entry or unlawful and forcible act is occurring or has occurred.

...

(C) A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has the right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

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