**RECEIVED**

**Apr 29 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County  
The Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

ANTONIO VASHON BARNES, JR.,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2023-001390

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

W. JOSEPH MAYE  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100851  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

HON. BYRON E. GIPSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit  
Post Office Box 192

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

The evidence presented at the hearing failed to establish either element of this defense. In the context of defense of habitation, our Supreme Court has dictated what constitutes a “trespass”:

A man who attempts to force himself into another's dwelling, or who, being in the dwelling by invitation or license *refuses to leave when the owner makes that demand*, is a trespasser, and *the law permits the owner to use as much force*, even to the taking of his life, *as may be reasonably necessary* to prevent the obtrusion or to accomplish the expulsion.

---

brief. *McClurg v. Deaton*, 395 S.C. 85, 87, 716 S.E.2d 887, 888 n.2 (2011) (citing *Chet Adams Co. v. James F. Pedersen Co.*, 307 S.C. 33, 413 S.E.2d 827 (1992)).

*State v. Bradley*, 126 S.C. 528, 533, 120 S.E. 240, 242 (1923) (emphasis added). First, there is no evidence that Mr. Griffin forced himself into the Appellant's dwelling. Mr. Griffin was a frequent visitor, and while there is evidence that he and Mr. Dash were having a dispute,<sup>11</sup> there is no evidence to demonstrate that Mr. Dash denied him entry or that Mr. Griffin forced his way into the apartment. Nor is there any evidence that Mr. Griffin instigated the supposed violence toward Mr. Dash, *as opposed to Mr. Dash instigating violence against Mr. Griffin after permitting him to enter the home*. Here, Appellant insists that this Court adopt the unsupported premise that Mr. Griffin was the aggressor, when it is just as feasible, perhaps even more feasible, that Mr. Dash was the aggressor. Appellant's argument also insists that this Court disregard the forensic evidence of the shooting which does not corroborate Appellant's version of how he came to kill both Mr. Griffin and Mr. Dash.

Secondly, as it pertains to establishing trespass, there is absolutely no evidence tending to establish that any resident of the home made a demand of Mr. Griffin to leave and then gave him the opportunity to do so. The possibility that Mr. Griffin and Mr. Dash were wrestling, fighting, or otherwise in an altercation does not logically equate to a demand to leave the premises. And, as Appellant makes clear in his alleged version of events, he did not speak to or even determine the identity of the individuals in his home before opening fire multiple times. In light of these facts, Appellant cannot demonstrate that the preponderance of the evidence supports the conclusion that Mr. Griffin became a trespasser following an unheeded demand to leave their apartment.

Appellant similarly cannot prove by a preponderance of the evidence that "the use of deadly

---

<sup>11</sup> For purposes of the immunity hearing, the evidence of the dispute is based upon what Mr. Griffin's girlfriend heard two weeks later from rumors on the street. (Hearing R. p. 121; p. 125). The result is that her testimony is not corroborative of the inference that Mr. Griffin was harboring ill-will when he went to visit Appellant's apartment on February 7, 2019.

force was reasonably necessary to prevent the obtrusion or to accomplish the expulsion.” *Bradley*, 126 S.C. at 533, 120 S.E. at 242. Here, the evidence demonstrates three critical matters: 1) neither victim was armed, 2) no violence, aggression, or even an acknowledgment of his presence had been shown to Appellant prior to his shooting, and 3) all three of these individuals were friends and 4) it is more than reasonably likely that efforts well short of deadly force would have been sufficient to have Mr. Griffin leave the apartment. Appellant’s argument for defense of habitation attempts to present its merits for the reasonable use of deadly force when Appellant openly admits that he was not even aware that the person he was supposedly seeking to eject from his home was a close friend who had offered him no violence. Such cannot be deemed “reasonable” under the law.

It is for these same reasons that Appellant’s arguments under § 16-11-440(A) fail. Appellant’s dwelling was never forcibly entered *and* Appellant never had a legitimate reason to believe such when based *solely* on some unsubstantiated noises. Appellant’s theory is simply not supportable under the circumstances of this case.

In summary, Appellant failed to present a viable case for immunity under the theory of defense of habitation and subsection 440(A). The denial of immunity was proper.

**b. Self-Defense and § 16-11-440(C)**

Appellant’s next argument is that he satisfied his preponderance of evidence standard under the theory of Self-Defense. Self-Defense is analogous to defense of habitation, but not identical. *State v. Rye*, 375 S.C. 119, 124, 651 S.E.2d 321, 323 (2007). To prove self-defense Appellant was under the burden of proving 1) that he was without fault in bringing on the difficulty, 2) defendant actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger, 3) if his defense is based upon actual belief of

imminent danger, a reasonable prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entered the same belief, and 4) defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance. *State v. Dickey*, 394 S.C. 491, 499, 716 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2011); *State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 372, 752 S.E.2d 263, 267 (2013). Appellant cannot satisfy these elements.

The first element is not met because Appellant brought the difficulty onto himself by shooting into a scrap going on between two other individuals who at no time had demonstrated any violence, aggression, or threat against him. The “difficulty” is entirely of Appellant’s own making by shooting without gaining even a modicum of knowledge for his situation: no time was taken to look before opening fire, no effort was taken to speak or determine the nature of his circumstances. Appellant *initiated* the only violence that pertained to him. This is especially so given that Appellant knows he lives with two other individuals in the apartments and the layout of the apartment demonstrates that while in the hallway he could see that his door had not been kicked in. (R. p. 698; 1031-1032). Secondly, the evidence is disputable as to whether Appellant ever believed he was in a life-threatening situation. Such is demonstrated by the nature of the shooting itself: the contact gunshot wound, the close-range stippling evidence, and the numerous shots fired striking victims at different angles. The forensics of the shooting simply do not match Appellant’s explanation of his actions. They are instead consistent with a purposeful, knowledgeable, and malicious killing. Third, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would not entertain the belief that his life was in imminent danger when there has been a total absence of threats, aggression, or violence toward him. This is, again, especially so when he lives with other people and has obtained zero insight into what is going on in his apartment. Stated simply, a crash and unobserved sounds of tussling would not spur a man of ordinary courage to simply start

shooting blindly at the sounds he is hearing. Fourth, while Appellant did not have any obligation to flee or retreat (which is usually the context in which the fourth element is considered) the language of the fourth element addresses “other probable means of avoiding the danger. . .than to act as he did in this particular instance.” Such is not exclusively a question of the duty to “retreat”. As previously stated, no danger had actually presented itself to Appellant and he had other means of handling the situation and learning that there was in fact no danger to his life at all. By failing to take any action to understand his circumstances, he has failed to satisfy the fourth element for self-defense.

It is for these same reasons that Appellant’s arguments under § 16-11-440(C) fail. Appellant’s admissions demonstrated that he used his apartment for on-going unlawful activity and that such contributed to his supposed fear. The record demonstrated that Appellant was never attacked. Nor was he “meeting force with force” as no aggression or violence had been shown toward him. The record does not support the finding that Appellant reasonably believed deadly force was necessary. (See Order – R. p. 469-483). Appellant’s theory is simply not supportable under the circumstances of this case.

Appellant’s self-defense theory for immunity was not satisfied by the evidence presented at the hearing. The circuit court’s denial of immunity was proper and it should be affirmed.

**c. Lack of Credibility to Appellant’s Theory of the Case**

It should be noted that Appellant’s entire theory of the case – that he awoke to a loud boom, mistakenly believed he was being robbed, and blindly fired at the two men fighting each other on the floor – is starkly contrasted by the nature of the injuries that both Mr. Dash and Mr. Griffin received. The immunity hearing record demonstrates that Mr. Griffin sustained a contact gunshot wound to the back of the head, i.e. a wound that could only be inflicted by putting the end of the

gun barrel against Mr. Griffin's skin and pulling the trigger. That is tantamount to an execution style shooting and renders the credibility of Appellant's version of events severely strained, if not impossible. A similar argument arises in relation to Mr. Dash's wounds. His gunshot wounds displayed stippling, which would require the gun to be discharged no more than 3.5 feet away. Since Appellant claims that he fired at the men while they were on the ground, the distance from the gun to the floor would use up most of the allotted 3.5ft distance. Logically speaking, it would mean that Appellant was nearly standing right in front of the two men when he shot Mr. Dash. Such forensic facts run contrary to the explanation he provides for the shooting.<sup>12</sup>

Appellant has failed in both process and substance to demonstrate an abuse of discretion in this matter. Appellant's first issue is without merit and the circuit court's denial of immunity should be affirmed.

## **II. The trial court did not err in its jury instruction regarding defense of habitation.**

### ***Issue as it was presented at trial***

After hearing arguments of both parties and reviewing the relied upon case law, the trial court concluded that the facts and circumstances of the case warranted an instruction on the law of defense of habitation. Following his instructions of the law of self-defense, the trial court then gave

---

<sup>12</sup> Though not specific to the question of immunity, Appellant also substantially damaged his credibility when he lied to police about not having Ms. Small's phone number. This is the same woman that he is claiming snatched the murder weapon from his hand without request or provocation, and she proceeded to hide that weapon under her mattress in her apartment. Such facts already strain the bounds of credibility, but Appellant oversold the lie. He claimed to not really know Shakeila and to not have her number for officers when being interviewed. (State's Exhibit 71). However, the data dump from his phone demonstrates that the two individuals shared 15 phone calls between them in a matter of just 19 minutes, just an hour and a half after the shooting and mere minutes before Appellant came to the police with his story of the shooting. Respondent argues that this was a glaring and verifiable demonstration that Appellant was not being honest with police officers, was covering up his efforts to dispose of the murder weapon, and that the credibility for his entire explanation is consequently destroyed.

the following instruction:

If the defendant or a member of defendant's household is attacked in the defendant's own home, the defendant may use the force which appears to be needed to protect himself or his household from death or serious bodily injury. If a trespasser refused to leave the home when asked to leave, the defendant may use the necessary force to eject the trespasser. If in the effort to eject the trespasser the life or safety of the defendant or member of the defendant's household is jeopardized, the defendant may take the life of the trespasser. The kind and degree of force which are justified depend on the conduct of the trespasser. If a person entered the dwelling at the invitation of a member of the household, the person becomes a trespasser if the person refused to leave when asked.

If while legitimately exercising in good faith the right to eject a trespasser the defendant is assaulted by the trespasser and fears death or serious bodily harm, the defendant would be entitled – the defendant would be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Whether the defendant was acting in good faith in attempted to eject the victim or victims and was assaulted in the process is a question for you to determine.

(R. p. 1204-1205). At the conclusion of the jury instructions defense counsel raised the following objection to the defense of habitation charge:

I know this is kind of more of a last-minute one, but it did omit – was a very critical part of that was that unlike defense of self-defense, the defense of habitation does not require that a defendant reasonably believe that he or his property was in imminent danger of sustaining serious injury or damage. Rather, defense of habitation provides when one attempts to force himself into a dwelling, the law permits an owner to use reasonable force to expel the trespasser. I did hear the language about invitees becoming transformed into trespasser and what it means, but I did not hear that critical distinction about not requiring an attack or imminent threat. So, I just - - to be complete, I think it would be that, Your Honor.

(R. p. 1212-1213). The trial court responded that it was satisfied that the instruction was proper and denied to further instruct the jury.

### *Discussion*

The trial court correctly and fully instructed the jury as to the law of defense of habitation. Appellant's argument, in large part, is not preserved for appellate review because trial counsel's

objection was not to any alleged error of the language used by the trial court, but for what he believed to be an incomplete instruction or an omission. The instruction was given fully and it accurately instructed the jury on the law. Appellant's other arguments to the contrary are legal errors that read portions of the charge language in isolation, rather than collectively, and otherwise insist on his preferred verbiage. Lastly, the language demanded by Appellant would be an incorrect statement of the law and/or a charge upon the facts.

First and foremost, the bulk of Appellant's argument under Issue II are procedurally defaulted. Appellant's first argument insists that "the instruction given incorrectly told the jury that Appellant had to show he or a member of his household was attacked in Appellant's home and that the 'life and safety' of Appellant or member of his household was 'jeopardized.'" He goes on to argue that "[t]he charge incorrectly implied that habitation requires a defendant to establish that his person or property was in some danger of inquiry or harm. It also incorrectly informed the jury that in order for the defense to apply, the defendant or a member of his household had to be attacked or assaulted." (Brief of Appellant, p. 21; p. 22). These arguments were not raised to the trial court. Instead, defense counsel argued that he believed the instruction omitted language that reasonable belief of imminent danger is unnecessary. As such, Appellant's objection is strictly limited to whether the court erred in not giving the additional specific language requested. "The objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the *exact error*." *State v. Johnson*, 363 S.C. 53, 58–59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005) (citing *State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001)). "If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal." *Id.* Trial counsel did not contest the language used, nor did he argue that the instruction as given inferred or improperly instructed the jury. He argued that a portion of the charge he wanted was omitted. The

court disagreed, finding that his charge sufficiently covered the law. The above-mentioned arguments are therefore procedurally defaulted.

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